Shealy, Brenda

From: Kimberly McCall <kmccall@sccid.sc.gov>
Sent: Friday, December 27, 2013 2:12 PM
To: Shealy, Brenda
Cc: Salley W. Elliott; Robert M. Dudek
Subject: Curtis Simms, 2013-001219
Attachments: BOA.pdf

Brenda,

Attached is the Brief of Appellant in Curtis Simms' case as we discussed. We are filing the original and copies this afternoon. Please let me know if you need anything else.

Thanks,

Kimberly McCall
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Appellate Division
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201-1589
(803) 734-1330 - Telephone
(803) 734-1397 - Fax

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by excluding the testimony of eyewitness Alan James that the decedent was acting in a disorderly rude aggressive fashion toward Alabama fans, and that he got out of the truck and urinated in public since the decedent's friend, Adam Paxton, earlier testified that the decedent did not get out of the truck, did not relieve himself, and he was not acting in a disorderly fashion since the state opened the door to this fair response highly relevant testimony?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the charge of breach of the peace of a high and aggravated nature since the court improperly attributed criminal liability to appellant for the post game traffic chaos that he did not cause, and the state failed to present evidence showing appellant's guilt of the two aggravators alleged in the indictment?

3.

Whether the court erred by sentencing appellant to ten years imprisonment suspended on the service of three years for breach of the peace of a high and aggravated nature since the maximum sentence for this crime was thirty days imprisonment, and the legislative sentencing language shows the legislature did not intend for the absurd result where appellant was sentenced to more prison time for breaching the peace than he faced for the underlying homicide of which he was acquitted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 9, 2011, a Richland County grand jury indicted appellant for involuntary manslaughter and breach of peace of a high and aggravated nature ("BPHAN"). According to the indictments, the charges stemmed from a fight after a football game in Columbia, South Carolina on October 9, 2010. Specifically, the indictment alleged appellant knowingly, willfully, and intentionally disturbed public order and/or public tranquility through his conduct, accompanied by circumstances of aggravation, fighting in the roadway and/or disrupting traffic. This incident occurred on Shop Road at one of the tailgating spots near Williams-Brice Stadium after the University of South Carolina upset the number-one ranked Crimson Tide of Alabama.

As will be seen infra, although appellant wore Alabama clothing to the game, he tailgated with former Carolina football players and his roommates, Dustin and Jordan Lindsey. At the time of the tragic accident, former Carolina football players Mike Davis and Marque Hall were accompanying appellant and the Lindsey twins.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Diane Goodstein and a jury from January 28, 2013 – February 5, 2013. Appellant was represented by Johnny Gasser and Gregory Harris. Luck Campbell, Joanna McDuffie, and Meghan Walker represented the state. The jury acquitted appellant of involuntary manslaughter, but found him guilty of BPHAN.

On February 5, 2013, Judge Goodstein sentenced appellant to ten years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of five years' imprisonment and three years' probation.

Subsequently on February 15, 2013, appellant filed a motion to set aside sentence or in the alternative to reduce sentence. A hearing on the motion was held on March 12, 2013. Judge Goodstein modified the sentence to ten years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of three years' imprisonment and three years' probation pursuant to her order dated April 25, 2013. However, Judge Goodstein refused to reduce the sentence to thirty days' imprisonment as requested by appellant.

On August 1, 2013, appellant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court's original jurisdiction. On September 3, 2013, respondent filed a return. On September 13, 2013, appellant filed a reply.

On November 20, 2013, this Court denied appellant's petition for a writ of habeas corpus; however, this Court certified the appeal from the Court of Appeals and expedited the appeal. In compliance with this Court's December 16, 2013 briefing schedule, appellant now files this brief of appellant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

On October 9, 2010, the University of South Carolina Gamecocks took on the number one ranked University of Alabama Crimson Tide at Williams-Brice Stadium in Columbia, South Carolina. In the jubilant chaos after the Carolina victory, a freak accident occurred resulting in the death of Martin Gasque. The police ultimately charged appellant with involuntary manslaughter -- criminal negligence -- for punching the decedent after a short confrontation just before the decedent's friend, Adam Paxton, tragically ran over him with his large truck in the bumper to bumper traffic on the narrow Shop Road. The jury found appellant not guilty of involuntary manslaughter. However, the jury convicted appellant of breach of the peace of a high and aggravated nature (BPHAN). Strangely, appellant was then sentenced to a significantly longer prison term for the "aggravated" breach of the peace conviction than he could have received for the homicide -- ten years imprisonment suspended on the service of three years imprisonment.

State's evidence

Adam Paxton and the decedent drove to Columbia to tailgate for the football game. R. 508, ll. 15-18. Paxton drove his black truck to the game. R. 508, l. 25 – R. 509, l. 1. The two tailgated in a lumberyard on Shop Road, but did not attend the game. R. 509, ll. 8-16; R. 527, ll. 13-14. Paxton claimed he only "had two beers the whole day" before he tragically ran over the decedent. R. 510, ll. 3-4; R. 526, ll. 4-6; R. 526, ll. 21-23. However, it was undisputed the twenty year old decedent had a blood-alcohol content of .232 at the time of death. R. 510, ll. 10-15; R. 526, l. 25 – R. 527, l. 2; R. 527, ll. 5-6; 581, ll. 3-25.

Paxton maintained he had “no idea” whose beer was in the back of his truck. He said he did not take any beer to the tailgate. He did not even know whose cooler was on the back of his truck. R. 523, ll. 4-20; R. 524, ll. 1-5; R. 526, ll. 7-9.

Paxton maintained he saw no change in the decedent’s conduct throughout the day. The only change, Paxton said, was the decedent was “excited” about the Carolina victory. R. 528, ll. 10-16.

After the game, Paxton and the decedent left the tailgate spot and drove to the Woodlands on Shop Road. After dropping off a couple of people at the Woodlands, Paxton and the decedent returned to Shop Road heading north toward Columbia to go to a hotel. R. 511, l. 6 – R. 512, l. 17. Traffic was “[b]umper-to-bumper.” R. 512, ll. 18-19; R. 513, ll. 7-9. The two were “barely” making progress on the road. Traffic was worse than usual on Shop Road after a Carolina game. R. 513, ll. 10-12. In addition to the cars on the road, there were people walking beside the road. R. 545, l. 25 – R. 546, l. 7. While they were in traffic, Paxton said decedent “was celebrating for the Gamecocks ... telling people ... congratulations to the Gamecocks. **And that was it.**” The decedent was “very, very excited” about the win. Additionally, the decedent was talking on the phone. R. 513, ll. 13-18. (emphasis added). He was talking to Carolina fans who were walking by the truck, saying “go Gamecocks, congratulations, WooHoo.” R. 513, ll. 19-24; R. 532, ll. 2-4.

Paxton denied that the decedent got out of the truck and urinated on the side of the road. R. 543, ll. 14-22. He further denied the decedent was cursing and being belligerent towards Alabama fans as they inched along Shop Road in the post-game traffic. R. 543, l. 23 – R. 544, l. 3.

While the two were “[s]tuck in traffic,” cars were trying to get into the line of traffic on Shop Road. When they approached a dirt parking lot, Paxton saw a gray SUV trying to merge, but he refused to allow the SUV, in which appellant was a passenger, to get in front of him. Appellant Simms was dressed in Alabama garb but he was riding with high school friends and former Carolina football players, Dustin and Jordan Lindsey.

Former Gamecocks Mike Davis and Marque Hall were also riding in the car. Paxton said the Lindsey vehicle in which appellant was the front seat passenger blew the horn and the decedent said he simply “threw up his hand and was like, Hey, sorry, we already passed you, you know. Sorry.” Paxton claimed the decedent did not make any vulgar gestures with his hands and did not use any profanity. It was undisputed that appellant and the decedent both got out of their vehicles and encountered one another. The former Gamecock players riding in the car thought it was funny when appellant got out of the car – dressed in Alabama football attire – that appellant thought he would be able to have Carolina fans let their car into the Shop Road bumper to bumper traffic. R. 514, ll. 11-19; R. 515, ll. 3-11; R. 515, ll. 15-16; R. 546, ll. 18-23; R. 547, ll. 4-14.

As appellant walked the short distance to the truck, the decedent opened the door and stepped out of the truck. R. 515, ll. 22-24. Paxton did not observe appellant throw any punches at the decedent while he was sitting in the truck.¹ Paxton then lost sight of appellant and the decedent. R. 516, ll. 9-13; R. 552, ll. 22-25; R. 553, ll. 8-10. Appellant

¹ Initially, Paxton told police that the decedent was punched while still seated in the truck. Paxton said this was a mistake. The morning after the accident, Paxton told police this was an error when the police asked him directly if it were true. R. 557, ll. 1-14; R. 558, ll. 1-17; R. 681, l. 22 – R. 682, l. 17.

and the decedent exchanged words, but Paxton could not remember what the two said. He then heard a loud punch. R. 517, ll. 11-23.

Paxton had no idea where the decedent was after hearing the punch. He had no idea what happened. Instead of locating his friend, Paxton, who claimed he had the standard "two beers" the entire tailgating time, "slowly pulled up off to the side of the road." While doing so, he realized that he ran over something. Paxton got out and saw the decedent lying "in the middle of the road." Paxton ran to check on him. Then, several other people came to render aid. R. 518, l. 2 – R. 519, l. 12; R. 562, ll. 8-17. Paxton did not hear anybody screaming for him to stop or banging on his truck. There was defense testimony that appellant was yelling for Paxton to stop, and beating on the side of the truck trying to get Paxton's attention as he continued to slowly run over the decedent. R. 564, ll. 10-14. According to Paxton, running over the decedent was "totally unforeseeable." R. 566, ll. 10-17.²

State's witness, James Martin, along with his brother-in-law, father, wife, and grandfather attended the football game. He parked at his usual spot in the Hood Construction lot on Shop Road. R. 200, l. 10 – R. 201, l. 10. After the game, the family continued tailgating. R. 201, l. 24 – R. 202, l. 6. Although other people were also in the parking lot, the area "had thinned out some." It was "probably a half to a third full." R. 202, ll. 7-15. Still, traffic was "pretty heavy." R. 202, ll. 21-22. It was "just typical traffic congestion ... standstill and move." R. 203, ll. 18-23.

² Paxton was never charged for his involvement. R. 676, ll. 3-5. Even though he was the driver of a car that ran over and killed a man, he was not administered a blood alcohol test or field sobriety test. He was allowed to leave the scene.

Martin saw a white SUV waiting to get out onto Shop Road. R. 203, l. 24 – R. 204, l. 3. Martin was to the right of the SUV in a car with his brother-in-law. R. 204, l. 22 – R. 205, l. 3. Martin saw a male get out of the front passenger side of the white SUV. The male approached a black pick-up truck on Shop Road. The passenger of the black truck had his window down, and the two were talking. He saw the man reach into the truck, but could not tell what they were doing. The passenger of the truck opened the door. R. 205, l. 4 – R. 206, l. 2; R. 207, ll. 17-19.

The male from the white SUV punched the passenger. Martin saw the male from the SUV “hit, or attempt to hit, again, a second time,” the black truck’s passenger, who fell out of the door right beside the truck on the road. R. 209, ll. 9-25; R. 211, ll. 22-25; R. 217, ll. 12-13. Then, the black truck started to slowly roll forward. R. 211, ll. 8-15. The truck “kind of caught him towards the upper part of his leg, roll[ed] over his abdomen, [] and his chest, and his head.” R. 212, ll. 3-6. Although Martin did not identify appellant, he described the person in the white SUV as being the larger person in comparison to the passenger of the black truck. R. 218, ll. 11-19.

James Adams attended the football game with his family. R. 306, ll. 9-16. He tailgated in the Hood Construction lot. R. 306, l. 20 – R. 307, l. 1. After the game, the group returned to their tailgate spot. R. 307, ll. 14-18. “Traffic was so bad” they stayed at the spot for a couple of hours. R. 307, ll. 19-21. He and his brother-in-law, James Martin, left together. R. 307, l. 22 – R. 308, l. 3. Adams observed appellant and the decedent shouting back and forth as appellant approached the decedent. R. 308, ll. 17-24. Appellant reached in the truck. Adams was unsure what was going on, but he heard “a lot of shouting.” The decedent opened the door and as he was stepping out, appellant hit

him with a punch knocking him back into the door. R. 309, ll. 13-22; R. 310, ll. 14-15; R. 311, ll. 4 – 15. The decedent was punched a second time. Then, the truck “slowly crept up his groin, up over his body and over his head.” R. 310, ll. 1-9. Adams believed the decedent was “knocked out” after the first punch, but he was not sure. R. 311, l. 14 – R. 312, l. 24.

Adams remained at the scene because “we weren’t moving any ways. The traffic was bumper-to-bumper and that just added to it.” R. 313, ll. 13-19. Adams told the police that appellant was “shoved back a little bit” from the truck door opening. R. 320, l. 17 – R. 321, l. 1. Like his brother-in-law, Adams did not expect this to happen. R. 326, ll. 17-19.

Guy Echenroth and his wife had parked “right off Shop Road.” R. 270, ll. 6-20. The two got back to their car around 6:30 p.m. when it was approaching darkness. They got into the line of traffic, which was “bumper-to-bumper both ways on Shop Road,” heading toward downtown Columbia. R. 271, l. 20 – R. 272, l. 8; R. 274, ll. 21-25. They were in traffic for at least fifteen minutes before the accident. R. 272, ll. 11-14. A black truck was in front of them. R. 273, ll. 16-20. At approximately 6:45 p.m., Echenroth observed a car pulling from a side parking lot on the right trying to merge into traffic in front of the black truck. R. 274, ll. 4-20.

Echenroth saw a large male, whom he later identified as appellant, get out of the passenger side of the car and approach the black truck. R. 276, ll. 1-23; R. 286, ll. 19- R. 287, l. 4. Echenroth maintained that appellant reached into the truck and punched the passenger. The passenger of the truck tried to open his door. R. 277, ll. 14-20. Appellant threw three or four additional punches. R. 278, ll. 1-4. The passenger was

knocked to the ground on his side and then rolled over on his back. R. 279, ll. 2-11. According to Echenroth, the passenger "was out, cold." R. 279, ll. 12-17. Within three or four seconds, the truck ran slowly over him. R. 280, ll. 1-15. The passenger's "legs were between the tire" and the truck ran over his abdomen and his head. R. 281, ll. 1-5. The body was "inside the line" on the road. R. 281, ll. 16-20. Appellant "pounded" on his wife's window "screaming virtually out of control, call 911, call 911." R. 281, l. 24 – R. 282, l. 9. Then, appellant ran down Shop Road and returned with a police officer. R. 282, l. 5; R. 282, ll. 11-13; R. 282, ll. 14-16.

Rhonda Echenroth, Guy's wife, also testified that she and her husband were on Shop Road heading toward Columbia. R. 342, ll. 10-19. They were behind a large black truck. R. 343, ll. 1-4. Traffic was "stop and go, mostly stopped traffic as it usually is after a game." R. 343, ll. 9-12; R. 352, ll. 2-6. In fact, she described the road as "a parking lot instead of a road." R. 344, ll. 4-5; R. 355, l. 23 – R. 356, l. 3. There were also pedestrians walking on the side of Shop Road. R. 351, ll. 17-20.

Between 7:00 p.m. and 7:15 p.m., she observed appellant get out of his vehicle, approach the black truck, say something to the passenger, and then hit the passenger. The truck door then opened. Appellant "proceeded to hit the passenger and knocked him out and onto the ground." R. 344, ll. 3-12; R. 351, ll. 4-8. She estimated the passenger was hit "four, five, six," times. R. 344, ll. 13-17. After the passenger fell, the truck moved slowly to the right. The passenger "was positioned in the direct line of the back rear tire and the rear tire of the truck rolled over him between his legs and up over his head." R. 345, ll. 2-8; R. 355, ll. 17-22. She observed the passenger "lying within the white line ...

on the right side of the road.” R. 345, ll. 11-15. Then, appellant beat on her window telling her to call for help. R. 346, l. 16 – R. 347, l. 6.

Travis Brown attended the football game with his friend Brian Kern and parked on Shop Road. R. 372, ll. 17-23; R. 373, ll. 1-2. After the game, he and Kern returned to the tailgate spot where they stayed for about an hour and a half. R. 373, ll. 12-17. “[T]raffic was all backed up.” R. 374, l. 1. As they were pulling out of the tailgate spot onto Shop Road, a young man got out of a car and approached a truck stopped on Shop Road. The door of the truck opened, and he “saw two, maybe three punches.” He could not recall if the person “was completely out of the car or if he was still sitting down in the car.” The person was knocked unconscious. The truck pulled forward at an angle off the side of the road and ran over the person “laying in the road.” R. 374, ll. 15-22; R. 379, l. 20 – R. 380, l. 5; R. 380, ll. 20-24; R. 381, ll. 4-16. Brown did not see anyone reach into the window of the truck. R. 380, ll. 6-19. Brown and Kern pulled past the car that was in front of them and left without talking to the police. R. 375, ll. 14-15; R. 376, ll. 6-8; R. 378, ll. 13-18; R. 382, ll. 7-9.

Kern testified similarly to his friend, Brown. He saw appellant standing in front of a vehicle trying to help that vehicle get out and go left on Shop Road. R. 385, ll. 12-19. Kern described a truck on Shop Road heading toward Columbia. R. 385, ll. 20-25. The decedent then stepped out of the vehicle and turned toward appellant. Appellant punched the decedent in the face twice. R. 386, ll. 2-4.³ The decedent “went limp as though he’d been knocked out” and fell against the side of the truck and slid down.” R.

³ Kern never observed appellant reach into the window of the black truck. R. 389, ll. 22-40.

386, ll. 11-14. Within seconds of the decedent hitting the ground, the truck started to pull off the road, running over the decedent. R. 386, ll. 15-18. Appellant then yelled at the driver, "What did you do?" R. 386, ll. 20-25; R. 391, ll. 11-16. Appellant panicked, looking for help. Appellant ran down the road, found an officer and returned within thirty seconds. R. 387, ll. 3-10; R. 391, ll. 22-24.

Lauren Coggin went to high school with appellant in Mobile, Alabama. R. 394, ll. 3-8. She and a group of friends travelled to Columbia to tailgate before the football game in October 2010 with appellant and his friends. R. 394, ll. 15-21; R. 416, ll. 1-16. Among the group of friends were twins Dustin and Jordan Lindsey. R. 395, l. 15 – R. 396, l. 6. The group arrived to tailgate during the morning. R. 396, ll. 7-12. The tailgate included adults of different ages and children running around. R. 419, ll. 3-7. Alabama fans and Carolina fans attended the tailgate. R. 419, l. 17 – R. 420, l.1. After the game, the group – including the Alabama fans -- was cheerful. R. 420, ll. 2-5.

After the game was over, the group packed up to leave. R. 397, ll. 5-9; R. 398, ll. 19-24. Dustin Lindsey was driving, Jordan Lindsey was in the middle, and Coggin was sitting on appellant's lap in the front seat. Others were in the back seat. R. 399, ll. 5-20. When they were leaving, traffic "was very backed up." R. 400, ll. 13-15. Directly in front of them on Shop Road was a black truck. R. 425, ll. 14-20; R. 426, ll. 9-11. The passenger in the black truck yelled out. Appellant responded. R. 401, ll. 4-9; R. 426, ll. 20-25.

The passenger, who was taunting appellant and pointed at him, got out of the truck. Appellant got out of the car. Appellant walked to the passenger, and the two exchanged words. "The passenger in the car kind of put his hand out." Specifically, she

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