RECEIVED

JAN 13 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

January 13, 2014

Robert M. Dudek, Esquire
Susan B. Hackett, Esquire
David Alexander, Esquire
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211

Jonathan Gasser, Esquire
1529 Laurel Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

RE: The State v. Curtis Simms
Appellate Case No. 2013-001219

Dear Counsel:

I am enclosing two (2) copies of the Brief of Respondent, along with proof of service, in the above-referenced case.

Sincerely,

Salley W. Elliot
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SWE/ab

Cc: The Honorable Daniel Shearouse
Victim Services

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

R. 760-761. The Court denied the motion, noting that there was evidence of each element. R. 761-762. Appellant renewed his motion after the close of his case, which motion was denied. R. 1034.

DISCUSSION

A. All of Appellant's arguments but those relating to circumstances of aggravation are unpreserved for review because Appellant did not make them before the trial court

The only argument preserved is the argument Appellant made at trial: that the punches did not arise to the level of aggravation. R. 760-761. All other directed verdict arguments Appellant raises in his brief are alternative arguments that were never raised before the Judge Goodstein. This includes: (1) the State failed to prove the four elements of the indictment (Brief of Appellant 34), (2) the State failed to prove elements of breach of peace (Brief of Appellant 35-38), (3) the State failed to prove that Appellant proximately caused the breach of peace (Brief of Appellant 40); (4) Appellant accuses the State of failing to investigate Paxton for DUI-related

offenses as well (5) Appellant accuses Paxton of negligently causing the homicide (brief of Appellant 41). A party cannot argue one ground for directed verdict at trial and in turn argue an alternative ground on appeal State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989); State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970). Accordingly, the issues outlined above are not properly before this Court.

B. The trial court properly denied the motion for directed verdict because the State presented direct testimony that, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, reasonably tended to prove Appellant breached the peace in a high and aggravated nature.

Even if preserved, Appellant's allegations fail. In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). “When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). Further, an appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling “[i]f there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused[.]” State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

“Breach of the peace is a common law offense . . . embracing ‘a great variety of conduct destroying or menacing public order and tranquility.’” State v. Randolph, 239 S.C. 79, 83, 121 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1961). The offense of breach of the peace is defined as “a violation of public order, a disturbance of the public tranquility, by any act or conduct inciting to violence, which includes any violation of any law enacted to preserve peace and good order.” State v. Poinsett, 250 S.C. 293, 297, 157 S.E.2d 570, 571, 572 (1967). “Peace” means “the tranquility which is enjoyed by the citizens of a . . . community, where good order reigns among its

members which is the right of all persons in political society. . . . It is not necessary that the peace be actually broken to lay the foundation of a prosecution for the offense.” Webber v. Farmers Chevrolet Co. et al., 186 S.C. 111, 195 S.E.2d 139 (1938). “Anything that disturbs that state is a breach.” Lyda v. Cooper et al., 169 S.C. 451, 169 S.E.2d 236, 238 (1933). It includes violent acts as well as acts and words likely to produce violence in others. State v. Brown, et al., 240 S.C. 357, 126 S.E.2d 1 (1962). However, the crux of the offense, and “[w]hether [the] conduct constitutes a breach of the peace depends on the time, place, and nearness of other persons.” While it is not necessary that the peace actually be broken in order to sustain a conviction for the offense of breach of the peace, there must be at least, “commission of an unlawful and unjustifiable act, tending with sufficient directness to breach the peace.” Id.

First, the State presented direct evidence that Appellant violated public order or disturbed the public tranquility. While traffic was congested before the crime, Dan Robinson testified that the scene had become chaotic and difficult to control after the incident. R. 588. Other law enforcement officers testified similarly. R. 153, 641. Further, James Martin testified that he and several people pulled over their vehicles to help the mortally wounded victim. R. 212-213. These members of the public had their lives interrupted by Appellant’s actions. Major Smith noted that he and his family were trapped in the location for over two hours by emergency vehicles, and he directly attributed the lack of movement to Gasque’s death. R. 745, 750. All of this is direct evidence Appellant disturbed public order. While the area was initially congested after the game, Appellant conflates the congestion of post-game traffic with a total breakdown of order to minimize the effect of his conduct. See Brief of Appellant 39. There was order before Appellant’s action. Charging into traffic and punching Gasque directly caused the total breakdown of that order.

Second, the State presented direct evidence Appellant disturbed the peace by any act or conduct inciting to violence, which includes any violation of any law enacted to preserve peace and good order. It is undisputed that Appellant struck Gasque in the face, knocking Gasque to the ground under Paxton's pickup. See, e.g., R. 165. At minimum, intentionally striking another in the face violates S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (Supp. 2012) (Assault and battery statute). This statute preserves peace and good order by making it illegal to batter someone, reducing the risk that citizens will be attacked by fellow citizens.¹ Thus, the State presented evidence that Appellant committed a violent act that disturbed the peace.

Appellant asserts that he was not the proximate cause of the chaos that ensued.² Brief of Appellant 40. That was a later issue for the finders of fact, not the trial court at the directed verdict stage. In the light most favorable to the State, Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478, Appellant struck Gasque in the face, knocking him unconscious under the truck on a congested roadway. Appellant's self-serving speculation about whether he proximately caused the chaos is irrelevant to the directed verdict analysis. The trial court's ruling must be viewed at the time it was made and not in retrospect. To accept Appellant's argument about proximate cause would require the trial court and this Court to engage in an improper exercise of weighing the evidence rather than reviewing for the existence of evidence as taken in the light most

¹ In this case, Appellant's charge into the lane of traffic and pummeling of Gasque was the catalyst that created the ensuing chaos. The proper analysis is whether a violent act breaches peace and good order. State v. Poinsett, 250 S.C. at 297, 157 S.E.2d at 572. For example, punching a friend in a private dwelling, while a battery, would not disturb the peace unless it significantly agitated neighbors.

² Appellant appears to rely on Judge Goodstein's comment after the jury verdict to show that Appellant's conduct was not the proximate cause of Gasque's death. See footnotes 10 and 11, Brief of Appellant 40, 45 (citing R. 1452, 1454). But the trial court is not a fact finder, as Judge Goodstein clearly explained to the jury. R. 114-115. The jury could have found Appellant not guilty of involuntary manslaughter but guilty of BOPHAN for many reasons, not only on Appellant's speculation. Appellant's reliance on this finding improperly presupposes knowledge of the jury's deliberations.

favorable to the State.

Charging onto a public road congested with traffic and pummeling another citizen in the face in a public street does not suddenly become acceptable merely because a Gamecock football game recently ended. It was completely foreseeable to Appellant entering lanes designated for vehicular travel and punching Gasque in a public road would lead to Gasque falling into the flow of traffic, where his body would divert the flow of traffic or, as tragically happened here, kill him and create chaos.³

Finally, the nature of the elements of breach of the peace depend on the time, place and nearness of other persons. Over 95,000 people attended the game. R. 146. While the exact number of people affected by this incident is impossible to know for certain, it is clear from the officer's testimony that a significant portion of them were affected by Appellant's actions. R. 745. Further, eyewitnesses James Martin, Guy Echenroth, Rhonda Echenroth, James Adams, Travis Brown and Brian Kern, none of whom had anything to do with either party before the incident, were traumatized and inconvenienced by Appellant's actions. These members of the public were in close proximity to the actions when they occurred, and their lives were disrupted.

Appellant cites several cases in support of his argument. Brief of Appellant 42-44. Every case cited involves circumstantial evidence, and are completely distinguishable from this case. Every witness presented by the State gave a first-hand account.

Given that the State presented direct testimony that Appellant (1) disturbed public order; (2) through an act of violence, and both elements involve a significant number of directly

³ Appellant disputes whether Gasque was on the road. As Investigator Cassie Redford testified, Gasque was in the roadway, on the concrete. R. 166, 188. Numerous other eye witnesses confirmed that Gasque was in the roadway as set forth above. Whether he was closer to the white line marking the pedestrian walkway or the middle of the road is irrelevant to the directed verdict analysis.

affected people who were in close proximity to the act, there was ample evidence that reasonably tends to prove that Appellant breached the peace.

To survive a motion for directed verdict on a BOPHAN charge, the State must also prove a circumstance of aggravation. Circumstances of aggravation charged by the trial court included but were not limited to the use of a deadly weapon, the intent to commit a felony, the infliction of serious bodily injury, a great disparity between the ages or physical conditions of the parties, a difference in the genders of the parties, the taking of indecent liberties or familiarities with a female through the use of force, the purposeful infliction of shame and disgrace, and the resistance of lawful authorities. These are only examples of circumstances of aggravation. State v. Fennel, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000).⁴

The circumstances surrounding this breach of the peace are aggravated for multiple reasons.⁵ Starting with the least violent circumstance, Appellant, a former football player, was much larger than Gasque. R. 218; 276; 296; 308-09; 311; 334-45; 374; 800; 841. The difference in physical size was likely the reason Appellant so easily and quickly knocked Gasque under the truck unconscious. R. 210. Additionally, charging into a public street and beating someone in the face in an area congested with traffic carries a significant risk of serious bodily injury and

⁴ Fennel is an ABHAN case, but the aggravated circumstances language the parties agreed to use in this case is identical. These jury instructions are available on the South Carolina Judicial Department website at

<http://sccourts.org/juryCharges/GS%20InstructionsJune2013.pdf> (last visited December 30, 2013). The specific charge is on page 104 of the PDF. This jury instruction was given to the jury, without objection. R. 1140. The indictment incorporated these traditional circumstances of aggravation (“accompanied by circumstances of aggravation”) and also listed fighting in the roadway and/or disrupting traffic. R. 1465.

⁵ In his third argument Appellant isolates a comment by Assistant Solicitor McDuffie, taking it out of context and accusing the State of believing that “anything may be an aggravating circumstance.” Brief of Appellant 46 (citing R. 1046). Appellant misconstrues McDuffie’s words. As the jury instructions Appellant agreed to note, “These are only examples of aggravated circumstances.” R. 1140. McDuffie was reiterating the point. Immediately afterward, McDuffie listed a series of aggravating circumstances the evidence established in this case. R. 1046.

death. Even if Gasque had not died, knocking him unconscious was infliction of serious bodily injury into a stream of congested traffic would have created a significant problem as cars attempted to avoid his body, possibly causing accidents or forcing traffic into the opposite lane for a significant period of time. Appellant's punches, even if it had not resulted in Gasque's death, was an aggravating circumstance. The punches rendered Gasque unconscious. Further, traffic was delayed for a significant period of time due to Appellant's actions. R. 745.

Beyond the traffic issues, however, Appellant's gross conduct of charging onto a public road because he could not gain access to travel when he wanted and beating Gasque to unconsciousness and causing him to fall in the roadway was certainly an aggravated disturbance of the public tranquility and safety we expect where good order reigns. To suggest otherwise is to sanction disorder and condone unlawful, physical attacks in during post-game celebrations. Additionally, Gasque's horrible injury traumatized several people involved in the accident, or simply nearby. Adam Paxton, the driver, testified that he has undergone regular counseling since the incident. R. 573. Lauren Coggin and Mike Davis, who were with Appellant, became ill after the incident. R. 441. Several witnesses testified that they were shocked and frightened the incident occurred. See, e.g., R. 212; 282; 326; 346; 370; 383; 388; 428; 441; 631; 663; 702; 752; 833; 841; 916 - 17; 998).

Finally, the injury resulting from Appellant's actions was mortal. Dr. Nichols, the medical examiner, testified that Gasque suffered from a hinge fracture, which is a fracture from ear to ear at the base of the brain. R. 579. Once the pickup's tire had crushed Gasque's skull, he was going to die. Id.

While Appellant presents a different version of the evidence in his brief,⁶ the charges against Appellant were based on direct observations of multiple eyewitnesses. Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, Judge Goodstein properly denied the directed verdict motions, and the rulings should be affirmed.

III.

THE SENTENCING RANGE IN S.C. CODE ANN. § 22-3-560 DOES NOT APPLY TO BOPHAN; S.C. CODE ANN. § 22-5-150 DID NOT REPEAL § 22-3-560; HAIR V. STATE DOES NOT APPLY TO §§ 22-3-560 AND 22-5-150; AND JUDGE GOODSTEIN DID NOT ABUSE HER DISCRETION IN SENTENCING APPELLANT TO THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM FOR BOPHAN.

Appellant was convicted of Breach of Peace of a High and Aggravated Nature (“BOPHAN”) and sentenced to ten years imprisonment suspended upon the service of three years and three years of probation. R. 1173,1455. He argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-560 (Supp. 2012), as amended by the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 (“2010 Act”), abrogates the common law offense of BOPHAN by reducing the maximum sentence to thirty days. Relying on Hair v. State, 305 S.C. 77, 406 S.E.2d 332 (1991), he further argues S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-150 (2007) was implicitly repealed by the 2010 Act. Finally, Appellant argues that the trial judge abused her discretion in sentencing him to the discretionary maximum.

The State submits, first, that the legality of Appellant’s sentence exceeding 30 days was not properly preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to contemporaneously

⁶ In his brief, Appellant accuses Adam Paxton of committing vehicular homicide. Brief of Appellant 41. Appellant also accuses the State of not investigating Paxton for DUI or felony DUI crimes. Brief of Appellant 41. Both of these accusations are pure speculation, and are irrelevant whether the trial judge properly granted a motion for directed verdict. Further, Appellant never argued these points during the directed verdict motion. See State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970) (issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review.) Therefore, they are not properly before this Court.

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